
APPENDIX 4E 
PRELIMINARY FINAL REPORT 

1. Company details 

 
Name of entity:    Integral Diagnostics Limited 
ABN:     55 130 832 816 
Reporting period:    Year ended 30 June 2016 
Previous corresponding period:  Year ended 30 June 2015 
 

 
2. Results for announcement to the market 

 

    $’000 

Revenues from ordinary activities 
 

up 10.9 % to 167,770 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 
(EBITDA) 

up 19.4% to 28,238 

Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) up 29.7% to 19,518 

Profit from ordinary activities after tax attributable to the 
owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited 
 

up 137% to 11,388 

Profit for the year attributable to the owners of Integral 
Diagnostics Limited 
 

up 137% to 11,388 

 

Comments 
 
On 21 October 2015 the Company successfully completed its Initial Public Offering (‘IPO’) and listed on the 
Australian Securities Exchange (‘ASX’) under the ASX code ‘IDX’. Total proceeds raised in the offer were $133.692 
million, of which $100.523 million was paid to shareholders for existing shares, and $33.169 million related to the 
issue of new shares and was paid to the Company. 
 
The profit for the Company after providing for income tax amounted to $11,388 million (2015: $4.805 million) 
 
Profit after income tax expense reconciles to EBIT and EBITDA as follows: 
 

 Consolidated 

 2016 
$’000 

2015 
$’000 

Profit after income tax expense 11,388 4,805 

Interest received (263) (189) 

Share of profits of associates (2) (12) 

Finance costs 3,333 4,298 

Income tax expense 5,062 6,136 

 
Earnings Before Interest and Tax (EBIT) 

19,518 15,038 

Depreciation and amortisation expense 8,720 8,606 

Earnings Before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation 
(EBITDA) 

28,238 23,644 

 
Refer to the ‘operating and financial review’ on pages 2 to 9 for further information and explanation of the Appendix 
4E. 
 

 
3. Net tangible assets 

 

 Reporting period 
Cents 

Previous period 
Cents 

Net tangible asset per ordinary security 
 

(9.58) (44.66) 

 
The net tangible assets per ordinary share for the comparative period has been adjusted for the 29 for 1 share split 
that occurred on 30 September 2015. 



 

 
4. Dividends 

 
Current period 
 

 Amount per 
security 

Franked amount 
per security 

 Cents Cents 

Final dividend for the year ended 30 June 2016 payable on 4 October 
2016 

4 4 

 
On the 25 August 2016 the directors declared a fully franked final dividend of 4 cents per ordinary share with a 
record date of 1 September 2016 to be paid on 4 October 2016. 

 
Previous period 
 
Refer to Note 24 of the financial statements 
 
 

5. Dividend reinvestment plans 

 
The following dividend or distribution plans are in operation:                                            Not applicable 
 
The last date(s) for receipts of election notices for the dividend or distribution plans:      Not applicable 
 

 
6. Control gained over entities       Not Applicable 

 
 
7. Loss of control over entities       Not applicable 

 

 
8. Details of associates and joint venture entities 

 

 Reporting entity’s percentage 
holding 

Contribution to profit/(loss)  
(where material) 

 Current 
period 

Previous 
corresponding 
period 

Current period 
$’000 

Previous 
corresponding 

period 
$’000 

Name of associate/joint venture                         South West MRI Pty Ltd 
 

Group’s aggregate share of associated 
and joint venture entities’ profit/(loss) 
(where material) 

50% 50% $2 $ 12 

Profit/(loss) from ordinary activities before 
income tax 

  $2 $ 12 

Income tax on operation activities   $ - $ - 

 

 
9.  Audit qualification or review 

 
Details of audit/review dispute or qualification (if any): 
 
The accounts are in the process of being audited. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 



10.  Attachments 

 
Details of attachments (if any):  
 
The Operating and Financial Review and Financial Report of Integral Diagnostics Limited for the year ended 30 
June 2016 is attached. 
 

 
 

 

11.  Signed 

 
 
 
 
 

 
________________________________    ________________________________ 
Helen Kurincic       John Livingston 
Chairman       Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
25 August 2016 
Melbourne 
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Operating and Financial Review  
 

The purpose of this operating and financial review is to provide shareholders with additional information regarding the 
Company’s operations, financial position, business strategies and prospects. The review complements the financial report 
on pages 10 to 49 and the ASX announcement and full year results presentation dated 25 August 2016.  
 
Integral Diagnostics Limited (ASX: IDX) is an Australian healthcare services company whose main activity is providing 
Diagnostic Imaging services to general practitioners, medical specialists and allied health professionals (Referrers) and their 
patients. These services are provided through a network of 45 sites, including 12 hospital sites, in three regional geographic 
markets under three core brands – Lake Imaging (Victoria), South Coast Radiology (Queensland) and Global Diagnostics 
(Western Australia).  
 
Diagnostic Imaging involves a set of techniques that non-invasively produces images of the human body for clinical analysis 
and medical intervention. Images can be produced using a variety of Modalities, including: 

 Radiography (X-ray); 

 Ultrasound; 

 Computed Tomography (CT); 

 Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI); and  

 Nuclear Medicine (which includes positron emission tomography (PET)). 
 
The images produced by Diagnostic Imaging are a critical tool for Referrers in diagnosing and deciding on a form of treatment 
for patients. 
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Year in Review  
 
Financial Performance 
 
A summary statutory and pro forma income statement in line with the Prospectus lodged on 9 October 2015 is outlined in 
the following tables: 
 

Summary of statutory income 
statement 

($million) 

Actual 

2016  

Forecast1 

2016 

Total revenue 167.8 169.6 

EBITDA 28.2 29.8 

EBIT 19.5 20.8 

NPAT 11.4 12.4 

NPATA 11.8 12.8 

EPS (cents) 8.2 8.9 

 
 

Summary of pro forma income 
statement 

($million) 

Actual2 

2016  

Forecast3 

2016 

Total revenue 167.8 169.6 

EBITDA 34.9 37.3 

EBIT 26.2 28.4 

NPAT 16.6 17.9 

NPATA 17.0 18.3 

EPS (cents) 11.9 12.9 

 
 
As previously flagged to the market, the actual performance of Integral Diagnostics over FY16 was slightly below Prospectus 
forecast.  In light of the unexpected and rapid decline in referrals industry-wide given uncertainty around government policy, 
the FY16 performance clearly shows the resilience of our business model. IDX was able to grow patient examination 
volumes by 4.8% in FY16 against industry growth of 3.7% as referenced to Medicare data for the states in which we operate. 
 

Summary of pro forma income 
statement4 

($million) 

Actual 

2016  

Actual 

2015 

Total revenue 167.8 160.0 

EBITDA 34.9 34.6 

EBIT 26.2 25.4 

NPAT 16.6 15.8 

NPATA 17.0 16.2 

 

                                                           
1 Pro Forma Forecast Financial Information is consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th 
October 2015. 
2 Pro Forma actual has been prepared consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th October 
2015. 
3 Pro Forma Forecast Financial Information is consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th 
October 2015. 
4 Pro Forma actual has been prepared consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th October 
2015. 
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The pro forma result reflected the resilience of the business against short term industry headwinds. 

 Revenue grew 4.9% 
- Short term industry uncertainty reduced referral patterns from November 2015 
- MRI, CT & XR volume growth above Medicare data in the states in which we operate 
- Organic growth across all businesses 

 Expense growth of 5.9% in line with Prospectus forecasts 
- Full year impact of new radiologists employed late FY15 
- Investment in staff and systems to support future growth 

 EBITDA growth of 0.9% primarily due to slower growth in revenues compared to committed expenditures  

 Free cash flow conversion of 71.9% 
 
Operating Performance Overview 
 
During the period, in addition to successfully completing its IPO, the Company:  

 

 Signed a new long term contract extension with the West Australian Country Health Service relating to the provision 
of services at Bunbury Hospital; 
 

 Moved into new premises at Toowoomba (Queensland) offering an expanded range of services with additional MRI 
machine in December 2015 and the only provider to have both 1.5T and 3T MRI systems in Toowoomba; 
 

  Developed a new comprehensive site at Sunbury (Victoria) in April 2016, which offers an expanded range of 
services including the only provider of MRI services in the Sunbury region; 
 

 Contributed to the refurbishment of facilities at St John of God Hospital, Geelong site, catering for an expanded 
range of services including an additional MRI; 
 

 Moved into a new premise at Ocean Grove (Victoria) in December 2015 providing increased capacity to meet 
growing demand in the Bellarine Peninsula region; 
 

 Continued to invest in state of the art equipment, both to expand services and replace existing equipment to ensure 
equipment is within age parameters outlined by the Commonwealth Government in order for patients to receive the 
maximum potential reimbursement for their diagnostic imaging service; and 

 

 Announced the acquisition of Western District Radiology and the remaining 50% interest in South West MRI Pty Ltd. 
 
Management remains focused on executing the strategy of the Company articulated during the IPO process, and believes 
the Company remains attractively positioned to strategically capitalise on the demand for diagnostic imaging services and 
delivery of high quality, comprehensive services to referrers and patients alike. 
 
Regulatory Outlook 
 
On Tuesday 15 December 2015, The Federal Government released its Mid-Year Economic and Fiscal Outlook (MYEFO) 
outlining intended changes to the bulk-billing incentives to pathology and diagnostic imaging service providers. At this 
time, IDX estimated that, if implemented from 1 July 2016 and without mitigation by IDX management, the potential 
impact on revenue (based on last 12 months’ revenue) would be approximately 2% - 3%. 
 
Media reports about alleged over servicing in the healthcare system and the Government’s proposed cuts to bulk billing 
incentives had the effect of disrupting traditional Diagnostic Imaging referral patterns and overall industry volume growth 
rates decreased from 5.0% in 2015 to 3.0% in 2016 (based on national Medicare data - financial years). 
 
In the lead up to the federal election and since then, the regulatory outlook has improved. The Federal Government has 
now deferred the flagged changes to bulk billing to allow for an independent evaluation to be completed and outcomes 
implemented. They have also announced that they are prepared to invest up to a further $50 million per annum back 
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into the system if bulk billing changes occur and that indexation to the Diagnostic Imaging schedule of fees would resume 
in conjunction with indexation for General Practitioners. 
 
 
 
Company Outlook 

 

The longer term industry fundamentals that underpin lasting and attractive future growth opportunities are; 

 population growth; 

 the ageing population; 

 growing consumer expectations; and  

 medical and technological advances. 

In the short term while referral patterns are showing signs of recovery, there still remains some uncertainty – both 

regulatory and the time it will take for referral patterns to return to historical growth rates.  

After having successfully acquired Western District Radiology and the remaining 50% interest in South West MRI Pty 

Ltd, we continue to evaluate other acquisition opportunities. We take a disciplined approach to acquisitions, and any 

opportunities we pursue must be consistent with our strategic growth criteria.  

With an eye to market fundamentals, and to ensure Integral Diagnostics is best positioned to  capture further growth 

over the longer term, we will continue to invest in technology, sites, infrastructure, and people. Overall, we expect to 

generate a modest improvement in FY17 revenue and earnings when compared to FY16. 

 

  



Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(Formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Operating and financial review 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

Page 6 

 
Financial Position 
 
A summary of the balance sheet as at 30 June 2016 and in comparison to the pro forma balance sheet disclosed in the 
Prospectus lodged on 9 October 2015 is presented below. 
 

BALANCE SHEET 

($million) 

30 June 2016 
Actual 

30 June 2015 
Pro-forma 

 $’m $’m 

Cash and cash equivalents 23.6 9.6 

Trade and other receivables 5.5 4.8 

Other current assets 2.9 2.1 

Total current assets 32.0 16.4 

   

Property, plant and equipment 46.6 38.0 

Intangible assets 97.7 98.4 

Deferred tax asset 4.8 6.3 

Total non-current assets 149.1 142.6 

   

TOTAL ASSETS 181.1 159.1 

   

Trade and other payables 10.4 10.1 

Current tax liabilities 1.1 2.7 

Borrowings 6.7 6.4 

Provisions 9.5 8.6 

Other current liabilities  - 3.2 

Total current liabilities 27.7 31.0 

   

Borrowings 61.8 53.4 

Provisions 7.2 6.2 

Other non-current liabilities 0.4 0.5 

Total non-current liabilities 69.4 60.1 

   

TOTAL LIABILITIES 97.1 91.1 

   

NET ASSETS  84.0 68.0 

 

 Working capital of $4 million is driven by strong cash holdings; 

 Property, plant and equipment increased by $8.6 million due to on-going investment in state of the art equipment 
and opening of new and refurbished sites; 

 Provisions (excluding tax) have increased $1.9 million. This increase is primarily due to the provisions associated 
with employee benefits; 

 Net tax balances have decreased mainly due to higher Deferred Tax Liabilities recognised on PPE depreciation 
differences; 

 Net debt decreased by $5.3 million;  
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Cash flow 

 

A summary of the pro forma and statutory cash flows as at 30 June 2016 and as compared to the Prospectus lodged on 

9 October 2015 are presented below. 

 

Summary of pro forma cash flow 

($ million) 

Actual5 

2016 

Forecast6 

2016 

   

Free cash flow 25.1 30.5 
Growth Capital Expenditure (7.8) (6.1) 
Net cash flow before financing and taxation 17.3 24.4 

   

Tax paid (7.8) (7.1) 

Interest and other costs paid on borrowings (2.8) (3.0) 

Net change in borrowings 8.7 7.6 
Net cash flows 15.4 21.9 

   

 

Summary of statutory cash flow 

($ million) 

Actual 

2016 

Forecast7 

2016 

   

Free cash flow 18.1 23.3 
Growth Capital Expenditure (7.8) (6.1) 
Net cash flow before financing and taxation 10.3 17.1 

   

Tax paid (7.8) (7.1) 

Interest and other costs paid on borrowings (2.7) (3.2) 

Proceeds from issue of shares 33.2 33.2 

Net change in borrowings 6.0 5.0 

Net payment of  Bank Facilities (20.0) (20.0) 

Deferred consideration (3.2) (3.2) 

Offer transaction costs in equity (1.8) (2.6) 
Net cash flows 14.0 19.2 

 

 Pro forma free cash flows of $25.1 million are lower than forecast by $5.4 million due to a lower than expected 
EBITDA of $2.4 million and changes in working capital forecast being $2.6 million less than forecast . 

 Growth capital expenditure was $1.7 million higher than expected due to on-going investment in state of the art 
equipment and opening of new and refurbished sites for future growth; 

  

                                                           
5 Pro Forma Actual have been prepared consistent with the basis set out in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th October 2015. 
6 Pro Forma Forecast Financial Information is consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th 
October 2015. 
7 Statutory Forecast Financial Information is consistent with the information disclosed in the Prospectus lodged with ASIC on 9th 
October 2015. 



Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(Formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Operating and financial review 
For the year ended 30 June 2016 

 

Page 8 

 
 
Business opportunities and risks 
 
The following are key opportunities that may impact IDX’s financial and operating result in future periods: 
 

 Ability to leverage off the growing demand for Diagnostic Imaging Services through our current network. 
 Utilisation of high quality systems to deliver best-in-class patient and referrer outcomes. 
 Ability to leverage of our strong market position, diversified service model and sources of funding to develop growth 

opportunities. 
 Identification of new business opportunities through development of the existing business, capacity expansion or 

further acquisitions.  
 Ability to leverage off and be first to market with new technology and innovation. 
 Ability to leverage of our attractive specialist healthcare model to attract, retain and grow the radiologist group 
 Retention of our experienced management team and Board to drive growth and sustainability through the business. 

 
The following are key risks that may impact IDX’s financial and operating result in future periods. 
 

 Changes to or breaches of laws, government policies and regulations may impact the ability of IDX to continue to 
operate. 

 Inadequate Commonwealth Government rebates for Diagnostic Imaging Services may reduce demand for services.  
 Changes to capital sensitivity rules could result in IDX having to refurbish current Diagnostic Imaging equipment or 

acquire new equipment earlier than intended. 
 Breach of IDX’s service agreements and related property leases may be breached, terminated or not renewed. 
 IDX may be unable to recruit and retain Radiologists and Technical Professionals. 
 IDX’s relationship with radiologists and technical professionals may deteriorate. 
 Relationships with Referrers may deteriorate resulting in a decrease in volume levels. 
 IDX may suffer reputational damage resulting in a deterioration of its competitive position. 
 Labor costs may increase. 
 Failure of technical infrastructure. 

 
 
Risk Management  
 
Since the listing of the Company on the ASX, IDX has been working towards the development of an enterprise risk 

management framework that includes the development and maintenance of risk registers within each business and at 

a consolidated group level for the most material risks. This risk management framework will help to create a best practice, 

consistent and rigorous approach to identifying, analysing and evaluating risks. 

The framework will be overseen by the Audit Risk and Compliance Committee and will be actively managed by the 

Executive Committee. It will be consistent with AS/NZ31000:2009 and will be subject to regular review by internal risk 

audit. Our Audit Risk and Compliance Committee Charter is also available in the Corporate Governance section of our 

website. 

The Board has also established a National Clinical Leadership Committee (National CLC) and State Clinical Leadership 

Committee’s (State CLC’s) under the National & State Clinical Leadership Committees Charter, which provides a 

framework for the National CLC and State CLC’s to work together to develop and implement policies and work practices 

in order for IDX to achieve clinical best practice and service for its patients and Referrers.  

The responsibilities of the National CLC include reviewing any recommendations arising from adverse incidents from 

the State CLC’s and to share learnings to prevent recurrence.  
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Future prospects 

 

IDX operates in a growing healthcare market where there is an increasing demand for diagnostic services arising from 

growing and ageing populations, new tests and preventative medicine.  

 

IDX has a long history in the regions it operates in. Across the regional areas in each state in which it operates, IDX is 

a market leader by number of sites. This gives IDX a competitive advantage to maintain its position as well as increase 

its share of Diagnostic Imaging Services in its regions. 

 

IDX operates with a group of Radiologists and equipment that has capacity to provide an increasing number of 

Diagnostics Imaging Services particularly in higher complexity Modalities given IDX’s MRI Licenses and investment in 

MRI and Nuclear Medicine/PET equipment. IDX invests in state of the art equipment to provide high quality services to 

its patients and Referrers. 

 

IDX will continue to operate in the diagnostic imaging market and pursue its strategy of expansion through  organic 

growth and merger and acquisitions in existing and new regions. 
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Earnings per share attributable to the owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited 

 
 
The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 

accompanying notes

   
 Note 30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
  $’000 $’000 

    
Revenue    
Revenue 5 167,770 151,213 

Interest income  263 189 

Total revenue and other income  168,033 151,402 

    
Expenses    
Consumables 6 (8,365) (8,701) 
Employee benefits expense 6 (95,406) (83,785) 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 6 (8,720) (8,606) 
Transaction costs 6 (6,990) (10,035) 
Equipment related expenses  (6,056) (5,975) 
Occupancy expenses  (11,724) (10,191) 
Other expenses  (10,991) (8,882) 

Finance costs 6 (3,333) (4,298) 

Total expenses  (151,585) (140,473) 

    
Operating profit  16,448 10,929 
    

Share of profits of associates accounted for using the equity method  2 12 

 
Profit before income tax expense 

 16,450 10,941 

    

Income tax expense 7 (5,062) (6,136) 

    
Profit for the year from continuing operations  11,388 4,805 

    

Other comprehensive income, net of tax  - - 

Total comprehensive income  11,388 4,805 

    
Profit is attributable to:    
Non-controlling interest  - 305 

Owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited  11,388 4,500 

  11,388 4,805 

    
Total comprehensive income is attributable to:    
Non-controlling interest  - 305 

Owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited  11,388 4,500 

  11,388 4,805 

  Cents Cents 
    
Basic earnings per share 37 8.2 3.8 
Diluted earnings per share 37 8.2 3.8 
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The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

   
 Note 30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
  $’000 $’000 

Assets    
    
Current assets    
Cash and cash equivalents 8 23,620 9,596 
Trade and other receivables 9 5,544 4,789 
Other assets 10 2,450 2,062 

Inventory 11 333 - 

Total current assets  31,947 16,447 

    
Non-current assets    
Property, plant and equipment 12 46,629 37,959 
Intangibles 13 97,725 98,372 

Deferred tax asset 14 4,804 3,259 

Total non-current assets  149,158 139,590 

    

Total assets  181,105 156,037 

    
Liabilities    
    
Current liabilities    
Trade and other payables 15 10,397 10,538 
Borrowings 16 6,762 13,712 
Income tax payable  1,107 2,727 
Provisions 17 9,519 8,646 

Other financial liabilities 18 - 3,150 

Total current liabilities  27,785 38,773 

    
Non-current liabilities    
Borrowings 19 61,781 68,741 
Derivative financial instruments  365 451 

Provisions 20 7,254 6,232 

Total non-current liabilities  69,400 75,424 

    

Total liabilities  97,185 114,197 

    

Net assets  83,920 41,840 

    
Equity    
Contributed capital 21 82,760 50,743 
Reserves 22 (11,862) (10,537) 

Retained profits 23 13,022 1,634 

    

Total equity  83,920 41,840 
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Contributed 

capital 
Reserves 

Retained 
profits 

Non-
controlling 

interest 

Total equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      

Balance at 1 July 2014 2,531 (3,849) 7,721 1,889 8,292 

Profit/(loss) after income tax 
expense 

- - 4,500 305 4,805 

Other comprehensive income, 
net of tax 

- - - - - 

Total comprehensive income - - 4,500 305 4,805 

      

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

     

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs (Note 21) 

25,476 - - - 25,476 

Issue of ordinary shares as part 
of business combination (Note 
21) 

22,536 - - - 22,536 

Issue of ordinary shares as 
consideration of investment 

200 - - - 200 

Share-based payments - 128 - - 128 

Transaction with non-controlling 
interest reserve 

- (6,816) - (2,194) (9,010) 

Dividends paid (Note 24) - - (10,587) - (10,587) 

Balance at 30 June 2015 50,743 (10,537) 1,634 - 41,840 

 
 

Contributed 
capital 

Reserves 
Retained 
profits 

Non-
controlling 

interest 

Total equity 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

      

Balance at 1 July 2015 50,743 (10,537) 1,634 - 41,840 

Profit after income tax expense - - 11,388 - 11,388 

Other comprehensive income, 
net of tax 

- - - - - 

Total comprehensive income - - 11,388 - 11,388 

      

Transactions with owners in their 
capacity as owners: 

  
 

 
  

Contributions of equity, net of 
transaction costs (Note 21) 
Transaction with non-controlling 
interest reserve                                                     

32,017 
 

- 

 
(194) 

 
(1,197) 

 

- 
 

- 

- 

 

- 

31,823 
 

(1,197) 

Share based payments -                   66 -   - 66 

Balance at 30 June 2016 82,760 (11,862) 13,022 - 83,920 

 
 
 
 
 

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes
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The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes

   
 Note 30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
  $’000 $’000 

    
Cash flows from operating activities    
Receipts from customers   166,804 151,192 
Payments to suppliers and employees   (131,706) (114,042) 
Transaction costs relating to acquisition of subsidiaries  (189) (10,035) 
Interest and other finance costs paid  (3,067) (3,847) 

Income taxes paid  (7,787) (6,156) 

Net cash from operating activities 36 24,055 17,112 

    
Cash flows from investing activities    
Payments for purchase of subsidiary, net of cash acquired 32 - (66,619) 
Payments for property, plant and equipment  (17,222) (1,954) 
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment  300 409 

Interest received  263 189 

Net cash used in investing activities  (16,659) (67,975) 

    
Cash flows from financing activities    
Proceeds from issue of shares 21 33,170 27,400 
IPO transaction costs 21 (8,104) (1,724) 
Proceeds from borrowings  17,043 67,788 
Repayment of borrowings  (31,134) (21,130) 
Dividends paid to Company shareholders 24 - (10,100) 
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests in subsidiaries 24 - (487) 
Settlement of deferred consideration  18 (3,150) - 

Transactions with non-controlling interests 22 (1,197) (7,959) 

Net cash from financing activities  6,628 53,788 

    
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  14,024 2,925 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year  9,596 6,671 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 8 23,620 9,596 
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Note 1. General information 
 
The financial report covers Integral Diagnostics Limited as a Group consisting of Integral Diagnostics Limited (‘Company’ 
or ‘parent entity’) and the entities it controlled at the end of, or during, the year (collectively referred to as the ‘Group’). The 
financial statements are presented in Australian dollars, which is Integral Diagnostics Limited's functional and presentation 
currency and are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($‘000) unless otherwise stated. 
 
Integral Diagnostics Limited is a listed public Company limited by shares, incorporated and domiciled in Australia. Its 
registered office and principal place of business is: 
 
1111 Howitt Street 
Wendouree VIC 3355 

 
A description of the nature of the consolidated entity's operations and its principal activities are included in the 
directors' report, which is not part of the financial statements. 
 
The financial statements were authorised for issue, in accordance with a resolution of directors, on 24th August 2016. The 
directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 
 
Note 2.  Significant accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements are set out either in the respective 
notes or below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated. 
 
New, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted 
The Group has adopted all of the new, revised or amending Accounting Standards and Interpretations issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) that are mandatory for the current reporting period. 
 
Any new, revised or amending Accounting Standards or Interpretations that are not yet mandatory have not been early 
adopted. 
 
Basis of preparation 
These general purpose financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standards Board (‘AASB’) and the Corporations Act 2001, as appropriate 
for for-profit oriented entities. These financial statements also comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (‘IASB’). 
 
Historical cost convention 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for derivative financial instruments 
which have been measured at fair value. 
 
Parent entity information 
In accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, these financial statements present the results of the Group only. 
Supplementary information about the parent entity is disclosed in Note 31. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(Formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2016 

 

Page 15 

Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of Integral Diagnostics Limited 
as at 30 June 2016 and the results of all subsidiaries for the year then ended.  
 
Subsidiaries are all those entities over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed 
to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its 
power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between entities in the Group are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the asset transferred. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted 
by the Group. 
 
Where the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets (including goodwill), liabilities and non-
controlling interest in the subsidiary together with any cumulative translation differences recognised in equity. The Group 
recognises the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any investment retained together with any gain 
or loss in profit or loss. 
 
Current and non-current classification 
Assets and liabilities are presented in the statement of financial position based on current and non-current classification. 
 
An asset is classified as current when: it is either expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in a normal 
operating cycle; it is held primarily for the purpose of trading; it is expected to be realised within 12 months after the reporting 
period; or the asset is cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least 
12 months after the reporting period. All other assets are classified as non-current. 
 
A liability is classified as current when: it is expected to be settled in a normal operating cycle; it is held primarily for the 
purpose of trading; it is due to be settled within 12 months after the reporting period; or there is no unconditional right to 
defer the settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. All other liabilities are classified as non-
current. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are always classified as non-current. 
 
Leases 
The determination of whether an arrangement is or contains a lease is based on the substance of the arrangement and 
requires an assessment of whether the fulfilment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific asset or assets 
and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset. 
 
A distinction is made between finance leases, which effectively transfer from the lessor to the lessee substantially all the 
risks and benefits incidental to the ownership of leased assets, and operating leases, under which the lessor effectively 
retains substantially all such risks and benefits. 
 
Finance leases are capitalised. A lease asset and liability are established at the fair value of the leased assets, or if lower, 
the present value of minimum lease payments. Lease payments are allocated between the principal component of the lease 
liability and the finance costs, so as to achieve a constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability. 
 
Leased assets acquired under a finance lease are depreciated over the asset’s useful life or over the shorter of the asset’s 
useful life and the lease term if there is no reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership at the end of the lease 
term. 
 
Operating lease payments, net of any incentives received from the lessor, are charged to profit or loss on a straight-line 
basis over the term of the lease. 
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Impairment of non-financial assets 
Goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful lives are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be impaired. 
Other non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the 
carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. 
 
Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. The value-in-use is the 
present value of the estimated future cash flows relating to the asset using a pre-tax discount rate specific to the asset or 
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. Assets that do not have independent cash flows are grouped together to 
form a cash-generating unit. 
 
Rounding of amounts 
The Company is of a kind referred to in Legislative Instrument 2016/191, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission, relating to the ‘rounding-off’. Amounts in this report have been rounded off in accordance with that Class Order 
to the nearest thousand dollars, or in certain cases, the nearest dollar. 
 
New Accounting Standards and Interpretations not yet mandatory or early adopted 
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations that have recently been issued or amended but are not yet mandatory, 
have not been early adopted by the Group for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2016. The Group’s assessment 
of the impact of these new or amended Accounting Standards and Interpretations, most relevant to the Group, are set out 
below. 
 
AASB 16 Leases 

This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. For lessee accounting, the 
standard eliminates the ‘operating lease’ and ‘finance lease’ classification required by AASB 117 ‘Leases’. Subject to 
exceptions, a ‘right-of-use’ asset will be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position, measured as the 
present value of the unavoidable future lease payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term 
leases of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and office furniture) where an 
accounting policy choice exists whereby either a ‘right-of-use’ asset is recognised or lease payments are expensed to profit 
or loss as incurred. A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease prepayments, 
lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future restoration, removal or dismantling costs. 
Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included 
in operating costs) and an interest expense on the recognised lease liability (included in the finance costs). For classification 
within the consolidated statement of cash flows, the lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing 
activities) and interest (either operating or financing activities) components. For lessor accounting, the standard does not 
substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The Group will adopt this standard from 1 July 2019. On adoption 
the asset and liabilities will be grossed up by the value of leased assets, which we are unable to quantify until adoption as 
it is dependent on the number of leased properties held at that date, from adoption operating lease costs will be allocated 
to amortization and interest charges which will be below the EBITDA line. 
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Note 2.  Significant accounting policies (continued) 

AASB 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. The standard provides a single 
standard for revenue recognition. The core principle of the standards is that an entity will recognise revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects 
to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The standard will require: contracts (either written, verbal or implied) 
to be identified, together with the separate performance obligations within the contract; determine the transaction price, 
adjusted for the time value of money excluding credit risk; allocation of the transaction price to the separate performance 
obligations on a basis of relative stand-alone selling price of each distinct good or service, or estimation approach if no 
distinct observable prices exist; and recognition of revenue when each performance obligation is satisfied. Credit risk will be 
presented separately as an expense rather than adjusted to revenue. For goods, the performance obligation would be 
satisfied when the customer obtains control of the goods. For services, the performance obligation is satisfied when the 
service has been provided, typically for promises to transfer services to customers. For performance obligations satisfied 
over time, an entity would select an appropriate measure of progress to determine how much revenue should be recognised 
as the performance obligation is satisfied. Contracts with customers will be presented in an entity’s statement of financial 
position as a contract liability, a contract asset, or a receivable, depending on the relationship between the entity’s 
performance and the customer’s payment. Sufficient quantitative and qualitative disclosure is required to enable users to 
understand the contracts with customers; the significant judgements made in applying the guidance to those contracts; and 
any assets recognised from the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract with a customer. The Group will adopt this standard from 
1 July 2018. The changes in revenue recognition requirements in AASB 15 are not expected to have a significant impact on 
the timing and amount of revenue recorded in the financial statements, or result in significant additional disclosures. 
 
Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 
 
The preparation of the financial statements require management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect 
the reported amounts in the financial statements. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation 
to assets, liabilities, contingent liabilities, revenue and expenses. Management bases its judgements, estimates and 
assumptions on historical experience and on other various factors, including expectations of future events, management 
believes to be reasonable under the circumstances. The resulting accounting judgements and estimates will seldom equal 
the related actual results. The judgements, estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities (refer to the respective notes) within the next financial year are 
discussed below. 
 
Estimation of useful lives of assets 
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property, plant 
and equipment and finite life intangible assets. The useful lives could change significantly as a result of technical innovations 
or some other event. The depreciation and amortisation charge will increase where the useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or technically obsolete or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold will be written off or written 
down. 
 
Goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 

The Group tests annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate impairment, whether goodwill 
and other indefinite life intangible assets have suffered any impairment, in accordance with the accounting policy stated in 
Note 13. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units have been determined based on value-in-use (VIU) calculations. 
These calculations require the use of assumptions, including anticipated sales growth, long term growth rate and the post-
tax discount rate. 
 
Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets 
The Group assessed impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill and other indefinite life intangible assets at 
each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the Group and to the particular asset that may lead to impairment. 
If an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is determined. This involves value-in-use (VIU) 
calculations, in conjunction with the goodwill impairment testing which incorporates a number of key estimates and 
assumptions. 
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Note 3. Critical accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions (continued) 
 
Employee benefits provision 
The liability for employee benefits expected to be settled more than 12 months from the reporting date are recognised and 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash flows to be made in respect of all employees at the reporting 
date. In determining the present value of the liability, estimates of attrition rates and pay increases through promotion and 
inflation have been taken into account. 
 
Lease make good provision 
A provision has been made for the present value of anticipated costs for future restoration of leased premises. The provision 
includes future cost estimates associated with closure of the premises. The calculation of this provision requires assumptions 
such as application of closure dates and cost estimates. The provision recognised for each site is periodically reviewed and 
updated based on the facts and circumstances available at the time. Changes to the estimated future costs for sites are 
recognised in the statement of financial position by adjusting the asset and the provision. Reductions in the provision that 
exceed the carrying amount of the asset will be recognised in profit or loss. 
 
Note 4. Operating segments   
 
Identification of reportable operating segments 
The Group comprised the single business segment of the operation of diagnostics imaging facilities. 
 
Major customers 
During the year ended 30 June 2016, there was no external revenue greater than 10% to any one customer (2015: NIL). 
 
Operating segment information 
As the Group operates in a single business and geographic segment, these financial statements represent the required 
financial information of that segment. 
 
Accounting policy for operating segments 
Operating segments are presented using the ‘management approach’, where the information presented is on the same 
basis as the internal reports provided to the Chief Operating Decision Makers (‘CODM’) which includes the KMP of the 
company. The CODM is responsible for the allocation of resources to operating segments and assessing their performance. 
 
Note 5. Revenue 

 

Accounting policy for revenue recognition 

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefit will flow to the Group and the revenue can be reliably 

measured. Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

 

Rendering of services 

Rendering of services revenue is recognised when the service is rendered for the provision of medical imaging services. 

The point of sale is deemed to be at the time the image is taken. 

 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Sales revenue     

Services revenue   165,435 149,788 

     
Other revenue     

Other revenue   2,335 1,425 

Revenue   167,770 151,213 
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Note 5. Revenue (continued) 

Other revenue 

Other revenue is recognised when it is received or when the right to receive payment is established. Other revenue largely 

includes compensation payments received under equipment and leasehold contracts as well as labour cost charges to 

hospitals and government (trainees and paid parental leave). 

Note 6. Expenses 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Profit before income tax includes the following specific 
expenses: 

    

     
Depreciation     
Leasehold improvements   751 977 
Plant and equipment   6,633 5,464 
Motor vehicles   104 100 

Office furniture and equipment   587 1,422 

     

Total depreciation   8,075 7,963 

     

Amortisation     

Customer contracts   645 643 

     

Total depreciation and amortisation   8,720 8,606 

     
Transaction costs     
Stamp duty on acquisition of South Coast Radiology business 
and investment in Lake Imaging Holdings 

  - 5,825 

Professional fees and other costs on acquisition of South Coast 
Radiology business and investment in Lake Imaging Holdings 

  115 3,747 

IPO Transaction costs   6,321 - 

Fees relating to other transactions   554 463 

     

Total transaction costs   6,990 10,035 

     
Finance costs     
Interest and finance charges paid/payable   3,151 4,145 

Funding/establishment costs   182 153 

     

Finance costs expensed   3,333 4,298 

     
Net loss/(gain) on disposal     

Net loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and equipment   177 277 

     
Employee benefits expense     
Employee benefits   79,448 69,431 
Superannuation contributions   5,477 4,830 

Labour supply   10,481 9,524 

Total employee benefits expense   95,406 83,785 
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Note 6. Expenses (continued) 

Minimum lease payments recognised as operating lease expense $8.316m (2015: $7.304m). Costs of inventories 
recognised as expense $8.365m (2015:$8.701m). 
 
Accounting policy for finance costs 
Finance costs attributable to qualifying assets are capitalised as part of the asset. All other finance costs are expensed in 
the period in which they are incurred. 
 
Note 7. Income tax expense 

 
Accounting policy for income tax 
The income tax expense or benefit for the period is the tax payable on that period’s taxable income based on the applicable 
income tax rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary 
differences, unused tax losses and the adjustment recognised for prior periods, where applicable. 
 
Note 8. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Income tax expense     
Current tax   6,517 7,147 
Deferred tax – origination and reversal of temporary differences   (1,545) (828) 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods   90 (183) 

Aggregate income tax expense   5,062 6,136 

     
Deferred tax included in income tax expense comprises:     

Increase in deferred tax assets (Note 14)   (1,545) (828) 

     
Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense and tax at the 
statutory rate 

    

Profit before income tax expense   16,450 10,941 

     
Tax at the statutory rate of 30%   4,935 3,282 
     
Tax effect amounts which are not deductible/(taxable) in 
calculating taxable income: 

    

   Entertainment costs   19 24 

   Transactions costs and fair value movements   18 3,013 

   4,972 6,319 

Adjustment recognised for prior periods   90 (183) 

Income tax expense   5,062 6,136 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Cash on hand   15 13 
Cash at bank   23,605 9,583 

    

   23,620 9,596 
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Note 8. Current assets - cash and cash equivalents (continued) 

 
Accounting policy for cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly 
liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and 
which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value. 
 
Note 9. Current assets – trade and other receivables 

 

 
Impairment of receivables 
 
Movements in the provision for impairment of receivables are as follows: 
 

 
 
Past due but not impaired 
Customers with balances past due but without provision for impairment of receivables amount to $1.812m as at 30 June 
2016 ($0.878m as at 30 June 2015). 
 
The Group did not consider a credit risk on the aggregate balances after reviewing the credit terms of customers based on 
recent collection practices. 
 
The ageing of the past due but not impaired receivables are as follows: 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Trade receivables   5,199 4,646 

Less: Provision for impairment of receivables   (63) (88) 

   5,136 4,558 

     

Other receivables   408 231 

   5,544 4,789 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Opening balance   88 98 
Additional provisions recognised   66 28 

Receivables written off during the year as uncollectable  (91) (38) 

Closing balance   63 88 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Past due 31 to 60 days   1,278 364 
Past due 61 to 90 days   164 184 

Past due more than 91 days  370 330 

   1,812 878 
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Note 9. Current assets – trade and other receivables (continued) 
 
Accounting policy for trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally due for settlement within 30 to 60 days. 
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate fair value. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be uncollectable are written 
off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is raised when there is objective 
evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. 
Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation and 
default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that the trade receivable may be 
impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term 
receivables are not discounted if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 
 
Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 
 
Note 10. Current assets – other 
 

 
Note 11. Inventory 
 

 
Accounting policy for inventory 
Inventory is valued at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Inventory has been recognised based on categories of high 
value items used in the production of medical images that the company holds in large volumes including film, contrast, drugs 

and needles. Costs of inventories recognised as expense $8.365m (2015:$8.701m). 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Accrued revenue   745 533 
Prepayments   1,584 1,463 
Security deposits   43 44 

Other current assets  78 22 

   2,450 2,062 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
     
     
     

Film, contrast, drugs and needles  333 - 

   333 - 
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Note 12. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment 
 

 

   Consolidated 

   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Leasehold improvements – at cost   14,055 9,753 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (3,811) (3,137) 

   10,244 6,616 

     
Plant and equipment – at cost   52,660 42,952 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (20,439) (15,410) 

   32,221 27,542 

     
Motor vehicles – at cost   418 418 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (280) (176) 

   138 242 

     
Office furniture and equipment – at cost   7,854 6,161 

Less: Accumulated depreciation   (3,828) (2,602) 

   4,026 3,559 

     

   46,629 37,959 
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Note 12. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment (continued) 

 
Reconciliations: 
a) Reconciliations of the written down values of property, plant and equipment at the beginning and end of the current 

and previous financial year are set out below: 
 

 Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor vehicles 
Office furniture 
and equipment 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Consolidated      

Balance at 1 July 2014 4,957 11,110 322 1,469 17,858 

Additions 893 6,772 20 1,828 9,513 

Additions through business 
combinations (Note 32) 

1,806 15,502 - 1,931 19,239 

Disposals (63) (378) - (247) (688) 

Depreciation expense (977) (5,464) (100) (1,422) (7,963) 

Balance at 30 June 2015 6,616 27,542 242 3,559 37,959 

      

Additions 4,419 11,858 - 1,245 17,522 

Disposals/write offs (40) (546) - (191) (777) 

Depreciation expense (751) (6,633) (104) (587) (8,075) 

Balance at 30 June 2016 10,244 32,221 138 4,026 46,629 

 
b) Property, plant and equipment includes the following amounts where the Group is a lessee under a finance lease at 

the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
 

 Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant and 
equipment 

Motor vehicles 
Office furniture 
and equipment 

Total 

 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 

Net book value at 30 June 2015 1,332 19,992 38 889 22,251 

      

Net book value at 30 June 2016 4,065 26,318 116 355 30,854 

 
Property, plant and equipment secured under finance leases 
Refer to Note 19 for further information on property, plant and equipment secured under finance leases. 
 
Accounting policy for property, plant and equipment 
Plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items. 
 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the net cost of each item of property, plant and equipment 
(excluding land) over their expected useful lives as follows: 
 
Leasehold improvements   5-20 years 
Plant and equipment    4-15 years 
Motor vehicles     5-8 years 
Office furniture and equipment   3-15 years 
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Note 12. Non-current assets – property, plant and equipment (continued) 
 
The residual values, useful lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date. 
 
Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the unexpired period of the lease or the estimated useful life of the assets, 
whichever is shorter. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when there is no future economic benefit to the 
Group. Gains and losses between the carrying amount and the disposal proceeds are taken to profit or loss. 
 
Note 13. Non-current assets – intangibles 
 

 
Reconciliations 
Reconciliations of the written down values at the beginning and end of the current and previous financial year are set out 
below: 
 

   Goodwill Brand 
names 

Customer 
contracts 

Total 

Consolidated    $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       
Balances at 1 July 2014   11,284 - 2,456 13,740 
Additions through business 
combinations (Note 32) 

  78,420 7,000 - 85,420 

Amortisation expense   - - (788) (788) 

Balance at 30 June 2015   89,704 7,000 1,668 98,372 
       
Additions through business 
combinations (Note 32) 

  - - - - 

Amortisation expense   - - (647) (647) 

       

Balance at 30 June 2016   89,704 7,000 1,021 97,725 

 
Impairment test for goodwill and intangibles 
Goodwill and intangible assets are reviewed for impairment by management at the cash generating unit (CGU) level. 
Recognition of CGU’s is based on an assessment of the lowest aggregation of assets that generate largely independent 
cash inflows. As the business continues to integrate and streamline services across its brands the determination of CGU’s 
will be continuously assessed. As at 30 June 2016 three CGU’s have been identified being South Coast Radiology, Lake 
Imaging and Global Diagnostics Australia. A summary of the goodwill allocation is presented below: 
  

   Consolidated 

   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     

Goodwill – at cost   89,704 89,704 

     

Brand names – at cost   7,000 7,000 

     
Customer contracts – at cost   2,456 2,456 

Less: Accumulated amortisation   (1,435) (788) 

   1,021 1,668 

     

   97,725 98,372 
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Note 13. Non-current assets – intangibles (continued) 
 

Brand names of $7m are included within the SCR CGU. 
 
Key assumptions for value in use calculations 
The recoverable amount of each CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations which require the use of 
assumptions. The calculations use cash flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management. Cash flows 
beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. These growth rates do not 
exceed the average growth rates for the industry in which the Group operates. 
 
The following table sets out the key assumptions for those CGUs that have significant goodwill allocated to them: 
 

    South 
Coast 

Radiology 

Lake 
Imaging 

Global 
Diagnostics 
(Australia) 

    % % % 
2016 – Long term growth rate    3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 
2016 – Pre-tax discount rate    14.8% 14.8% 14.8% 
2015 – Long term growth rate    3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 
2015 – Pre-tax discount rate    16.3% 16.3% 16.3% 

 
Within the value in use calculation for the five year forecast period revenues have been forecast to grow between 4.2%-4.7% 
(2015: 3.9%-4.6%) and 3%(2015:3%) into perpetuity. The forecast cash flows also includes ongoing investment in property, 
plant and equipment to maintain the existing base and in 2017 to invest in further technology and expansion. 
 
The pre-tax discount rate would need to increase by more than 1.8% or the growth rate decline by more than 1.55% for 
there to be any impairment of the intangible and property, plant and equipment balances. 
 
Accounting policy for intangible assets 
Intangible assets acquired as part of a business combination, other than goodwill, are initially measured at their fair value 
at the date of the acquisition. Intangible assets acquired separately are initially recognised at cost. Indefinite life intangible 
assets are not amortised and are subsequently measured at cost less an impairment. Finite life intangible assets are 
subsequently measured at cost less amortisation and any impairment. The gains or losses recognised in profit or loss arising 
from the derecognition of intangible assets are measured as the difference between net disposal proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the intangible asset. The method and useful lives of finite life intangible assets are reviewed annually. Changes 
in the expected pattern of consumption or useful life are accounted for prospectively by changing the amortisation method 
or period. 
 
Goodwill 
Goodwill arises on the acquisition of a business. Goodwill is not amortised. Instead, goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be impaired, and is carried at 
cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are taken to profit or loss and are not subsequently 
reversed. 
 
 
 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

Goodwill allocation     
CGU:     
South Coast Radiology  Note32 78,420 78,420 
Lake Imaging   6,330 6,330 

Global Diagnostics (Australia)   4,954 4,954 

   89,704 89,704 
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Note 13. Non-current assets – intangibles (continued) 
 
Brand names 
Significant costs associated with brand names are not amortised but are tested for impairment annually on the same basis 
and within the same VIU calculation as outlined above and are carried at cost. 
 
Customer contracts 
Customer contracts acquired in a business combination are amortised on a straight-line basis over the period of their 
expected benefit, being their finite useful lives of between one and four years. The contracts consist of Global Diagnostics 
(Australia), a 100% owned subsidiary of the Company, providing radiology reporting services to the WA Country Health 
Service in the Pilbara, Wheatbelt and Goldfield regions. 
 
Note 14. Non-current assets – deferred tax 
 

Accounting policy for deferred tax 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rates expected to be applied when the 
assets are recovered or liabilities are settled, based on those tax rates that are enacted or substantively enacted, except for: 
 when the deferred income tax asset or liability arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a 

transaction that is not a business combination and that, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting nor 
taxable profits; or 

 when the taxable temporary difference is associated with interests in subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures, and the 
timing of the reversal can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 
future. 

 
Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that 
future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses. 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Deferred tax asset comprises temporary differences 
attributable to: 

    

Amounts recognised in profit or loss:     
   Employee benefits   3,557 3,203 
   Provisions for lease make good   519 442 
   Operating lease borrowings 
   Transaction costs 

  
119 

2,486 
301 

- 
   Property, plant and equipment   (1,784) (270) 
   Intangible assets   (306) (500) 

   Operating lease   213 83 

     

Net Deferred tax asset   4,804 3,259 

     
Amount expected to be recovered within 12 months   3,416 3,009 
Amount expected to be recovered after more than 12 months   3,479 1,020 
Amount expected to be settled within 12 months   (280) (377) 

Amount expected to be settled after more than 12 months   (1,811) (393) 

     

   4,804 3,259 

Movements:     
Opening balance   3,259 1,125 
Credited to profit or loss (Note 7)   1,545 828 

Additional through business combinations (Note 32)   - 1,306 

     

Closing balance   4,804 3,259 
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Note 14. Non-current assets – deferred tax (continued) 
 
The carrying amount of recognised and unrecognised deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Deferred tax 
assets recognised are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that future taxable profits will be available for the 
carrying amount to be recovered. Previously unrecognised deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that there are future taxable profits available to recover the asset. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset only where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and deferred assets against deferred tax liabilities; and they relate to the same taxable authority on 
either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend to settle simultaneously. 
 
Integral Diagnostics Limited (the ‘head entity’) and its wholly-owned Australian subsidiaries have formed an income tax 
consolidated group under the tax consolidation regime. The head entity and each subsidiary in the tax consolidated group 
continue to account for their own current and deferred tax amounts. The tax consolidated group has applied the ‘separate 
taxpayer within group’ approach in determining the appropriate amount of taxes to allocate to members of the tax 
consolidated group. In addition to its own current and deferred tax amounts, the head entity also recognises the current tax 
liabilities (or assets) and the deferred tax assets arising from unused tax losses and unused tax credits assumed from each 
subsidiary in the tax consolidated group. 
 
Assets or liabilities arising under tax funding agreements with the tax consolidated entities are recognised as amounts 
receivable from or payable to other entities in the tax consolidated group. The tax consolidated group has a tax sharing 
agreement in place to limit the liability of subsidiaries in the tax consolidated group, arising under the joint and several liability 
provisions of the tax consolidation system, in the event of default by the head entity to meet its payment obligations. 
 
Note 15. Current liabilities – trade and other payables 
 

 
Refer to Note 25 for further information on financial instruments. 
 
Accounting policy for trade and other payables 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of the financial year and 
which are unpaid. They are recognised at their fair value. The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 30 days 
of recognition. Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying amount is assumed to approximate fair value. 
 
Note 16. Current liabilities - borrowings 
 

 
Refer to Note 19 for further information on assets pledged as security and financing arrangements. 
 
Refer to Note 25 for further information on financial instruments. 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Trade payables   4,132 3,417 

Other payables and accruals  6,265 7,121 

   10,397 10,538 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Borrowings   17 7,389 

Lease liability  6,745 6,323 

   6,762 13,712 
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Note 17. Current liabilities – provisions 

 

 
Accounting policy for employee benefits 
 
Short-term employee benefits 
Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and long service leave expected to be 
settled within twelve months of the reporting date are measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are 
settled. 
 
Note 18. Current liabilities – other financial liabilities 
 

 
Deferred consideration relating to the acquisition of the remaining shares in Global Diagnostics (Australia) (transaction 
completed on 30 June 2015) was paid on 8 December 2015. 
 
Note 19. Non-current liabilities – borrowings 
 

 
Refer to Note 25 for further information on financial instruments. 
 
Total secured liabilities 
The total secured liabilities (current and non-current) are as follows: 
 

 
  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Annual leave   5,051 4,460 
Long service leave   4,225 3,912 

Employee benefits   243 274 

   9,519 8,646 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     

Deferred consideration   - 3,150 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Borrowings   40,373 53,357 

Lease liability  21,408 15,384 

   61,781 68,741 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Borrowings   40,390 60,746 

Lease liability  28,153 21,707 

   68,543 82,453 
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Note 19. Non-current liabilities – borrowings (continued) 
 
Assets pledged as security 
The lease liabilities are effectively secured as the rights to the leased assets, recognised in the statement of financial position, 
revert to the lessor in the event of default. 
Financial arrangements 
Unrestricted access was available at the reporting date to the following lines of credit: 
 

Accounting policy for borrowings 
Loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, net of transaction costs. They 
are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
 
Note 20. Non-current liabilities – provisions 
 

   Consolidated 

   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Total facilities     
   Equipment finance facility   15,900 15,900 
   Cash advance facility (1)   10,500 11,000 
   Cash advance facility (2) 
   Multi option facility 

  
50,250 
15,000 

52,750 
- 

   Standby letter of credit or guarantee facility   2,000 1,750 
   Commercial cards facility   300 300 

   Electronic payaway facility   3,075 2,050 

   97,025 83,750 

     
Used at the reporting date     
   Equipment finance facility   14,407 15,900 
   Cash advance facility (1)   10,500 11,000 
   Cash advance facility (2) 
   Multi option facility 

  
30,250 
8,714 

52,750 
- 

   Standby letter of credit or guarantee facility   1,567 753 
   Commercial cards facility   30 - 

   Electronic payaway facility   3,075 2,050 

   68,543 82,453 

     
Unused at the reporting date     
   Equipment finance facility   1,493 - 
   Cash advance facility (1)   - - 
   Cash advance facility (2) 
   Multi option facility 

  
20,000 
6,286 

- 
- 

   Standby letter of credit or guarantee facility   433 997 
   Commercial cards facility   270 300 

   Electronic payaway facility   - - 

   28,482 1,297 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Long service leave   1,592 1,185 
Deferred rent liability   1,717 1,227 

Lease make good   3,945 3,820 

   7,254 6,232 
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Note 20. Non-current liabilities – provisions (continued) 
 
Deferred rent liability 
Deferred rent liabilities relate to property leases where rent increases prescribed in leases are based on fixed percentage 
increases, and/or where leases include a rent free period or other lease incentives. The liability represents the difference 
between actual rental costs incurred per terms of leases, and calculated expense if the total estimated rental expense over 
the period of the lease was expensed evenly over the expected term of the lease. The liability reflects that as of the date of 
this report, the calculated expense (if the total estimated rental expense was expensed evenly over the expected term of 
the lease) is greater than actual costs incurred to date. The total liability is expected to fluctuate over time reflecting the 
cumulative calculations of individual leases. For individual leases, any liability will unwind over the period of the lease. 
 
Lease make good 

The provision represents the present value of the estimated costs to make good the premises leased by the Group at the 
end of the respective lease terms. Property lease agreements include various obligations at the end of the respective lease 
terms, such as removal of tenant installations and making good any damage caused by installation or removal, removing 
signage, and other general maintenance obligations (e.g. painting, cleaning). These costs have been estimated for each 
location, based on specific terms of individual leases, size of the individual sites, and historical experience of costs incurred 
when vacating a site. 
 
Movements in provisions 
Movements in each class of provision during the financial year, other than employee benefits, are set out below: 
 

 
Accounting policy for provisions 
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present (legal or constructive) obligation as a result of a past event, it is 
probable the Group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. If the time value 
of money is material, provisions are discounted using a current pre-tax rate specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision resulting from the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost. 
 
Accounting policy for other long-term employee benefits 
The liability for annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled within 12 months of the reporting date are 
measured as the present value of expected future payments to be made in respect of services provided by employees up 
to the reporting date using the projected unit credit method. Consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels, 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. Expected future payments are discounted using market yields 
at the reporting date on corporate bonds with terms to maturity and currency that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
  

   
Deferred 

rent liability 
Lease make 

good 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Consolidated – 2016     
Carrying amount at the start of the year 
Additional provisions 

  
1,227 

508 
3,820 

200 

Amounts used   (18) (75) 

     

Carrying amount at the end of the year   1,717 3,945 
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Note 21. Equity - contributed capital  

 
Movements in ordinary share capital 
 

Details Date 
No of 

shares 
Issue price $’000 

     
Balance 01 July 2014 2,531,380  2,531 
Issue of shares 14 August 2014 822,357 $28.09 23,100 
Issue of shares on acquisition of SCR 
Corporate Pty Ltd 

14 August 2014 722,294 $31.20 22,536 

Issue of share on exercise of options 14 August 2014 3,205 $31.20 100 
Issue of new shares 15 December 2014 71,197 $28.09 2,000 
Issue of new shares 31 March 2015 35,598 $28.09 1,000 
Issue of new shares 31 March 2015 14,029 $35.64 500 
Issue of new shares 31 May 2015 14,029 $37.17 500 
Issue of shares on consideration of investment 30 June 2015 5,379 $37.17 200 

Less: Share issue transaction costs  - $0.00 (1,724) 

     
Balance 30 June 2015 4,219,468  50,743 
Issue of shares on exercise of options 30 September 2015 5,380 $36.06 194 
Share split prior to Initial Public Offering 30 September 2015 122,520,592 $0.00 - 
Issue of shares in Initial Public Offering 21 October 2015 17,143,244 $1.91 32,744 
Issue of shares to employees in Initial Public 
Offering 

21 October 2015 247,417 $1.72 426 

Discount on employee share offer 21 October 2015 - $0.00 47 

Less: Share issue transaction costs net of tax  -  (1,394) 

Balance 30 June 2016 144,136,101  82,760 

 
Ordinary shares 
Ordinary shares entitle the holder to participate in dividends and the proceeds on the winding up of the Company in 
proportion to the number of and amounts paid on the shares held. The fully paid ordinary shares have no par value and the 
Company does not have a limited amount of authorised capital. 
 
On a show of hands every member present at a meeting in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon a poll each 
share shall have one vote. 
 
Share buy-back 
There is no current on-market share buy-back. 
 
Capital risk management 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern, so that it can 
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimum capital structure to reduce 
the cost of capital. 
 
Capital is regarded as total equity, as recognised in the statement of financial position, plus net debt. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 

   Consolidated Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   Shares Shares $’000 $’000 

       

Ordinary shares - fully paid 144,136,101 4,219,468 82,760 50,743 
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Note 21. Equity - contributed capital (continued) 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, adjustments may be made to the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 
 
The Group would look to raise capital when an opportunity to invest in a business or Company was seen as value adding 
relative to the current Company’s share price at the time of the investment. The Group is not actively pursuing additional 
investments in the short term as it continues to integrate and grow its existing businesses in order to maximise synergies. 
 
The Group is subject to certain financing arrangements covenants and meeting these is given priority in all capital risk 
management decisions. There have been no events of default on the financing arrangements during the financial year. 
 
Accounting policy for contributed capital 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 
 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 
 
Note 22. Equity – reserves 
 

 
Share-based payments reserve 
The reserve is used to recognise the value of equity benefits provided to employees and directors as part of their 
remuneration, and as part of their compensation for services. 
 
Capital reorganisation reserve 
The reserve is used to account for historical capital reorganisation of the Lake Group whereby the assets and liabilities of 
the acquired party are recorded at their previous book values and no goodwill is recognised. Any difference between the 
cost of the transaction and the carrying amount of the assets and liabilities are recorded directly in this reserve. 
 
Transactions with non-controlling interest 
Transactions with non-controlling interest reserve is used to record the differences arising as a result of transactions with 
non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control. 
 
  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Share-based payments reserve   - 128 
Capital reorganisation reserve   (3,849) (3,849) 

Transactions with non-controlling interest   (8,013) (6,816) 

   (11,862) (10,537) 
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Note 22. Equity – reserves (continued) 

Movements in reserves 

Movements in each class of reserve during the current and previous financial year are set out below: 
 

  Share-based 
payments 

reserve 

Capital re-
organisation 

reserve 

Transactions 
with non-

controlling 
interest 

Total 

Consolidated  $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
      
Balance at 1 July 2014  - (3,849) - (3,849) 
Recognition of share-based payments  128 - - 128 
Net movement on transactions with non-
controlling interest 

 - - (6,816) (6,816) 

Balance at 30 June 2015  128 (3,849) (6,816) (10,537) 
Recognition of share-based payments  66 - - 66 
Issue of shares to employees  (194) - - (194) 
Net movement on transactions with non-
controlling interest (note 32) 

 - - (1,197) (1,197) 

Balance at 30 June 2016  - (3,849) (8,013) (11,862) 

 
Note 23. Equity – retained profits 
 

 
Note 24. Equity – dividends 
 
Dividends 
Dividends paid during the financial year were as follows: 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
     
Retained profits at the beginning of the financial year   1,634 7,721 
Profit after income tax expense for the year   11,388 4,500 

Dividend paid (Note 24)  - (10,587) 

Retained profits at the end of the financial year 13,022 1,634 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company at $1.97 per share 
paid on 14 August 2014 

  - 5,100 

Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company at $0.48 per share 
paid on 1 April 2015 

  - 2,000 

Dividend paid to shareholders of the Company at $0.71 per share 
paid on 26 June 2015 

  - 3,000 

Dividend paid by Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd to non-
controlling interests at $18.56 per share paid on 23 December 2014 

  - 160 

Dividend paid by Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd to non-
controlling interests at $36.56 per share paid on 23 June 2015 

  - 327 

     

   - 10,587 
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Note 24. Equity – dividends (continued) 
 
Franking credits 
 

 
The above amounts represent the balance of the franking account as at the end of the financial year, adjusted for: 

 franking credits that will arise from the payment of the amount of the provision for income tax at the reporting date 

 franking debits will arise from the payment of dividends recognised as a liability at the reporting date 

 franking credits that will arise from the receipt of dividends recognised as receivables at the reporting date 
 
Accounting policy for dividends 
Dividends are recognised when declared during the financial year and payment is no longer at the discretion of the Company. 
 
Note 25. Financial instruments 
 
Financial risk management objectives 
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity 
risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focusses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure 
different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include sensitivity analysis in the case of interest rate, ageing 
analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk. 
 
Risk management is carried out by senior financial executives (‘finance’) under policies approved by the Board of Directors 
(‘the Board’). These policies include identification and analysis of the risk exposure of the Group and appropriate procedures, 
controls and risk limits. Finance reports to the Board on a monthly basis. 
 
Market risk 
 
Interest rate risk 
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to 
interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. The policy is to maintain 
approximately 25% of borrowings at fixed rates using interest rate swaps to achieve this when necessary. 
 
As at the reporting date, the Group had the following interest bearing financial assets and liabilities: 
 

  2016 2015 

  Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 
 

Balance 

Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 
 

Balance 

Consolidated  % $’000 % $’000 
      
Cash at bank and on deposit  1.6% 23,620 1.6% 9,583 
Borrowings  4.5% (40,025) 4.4% (60,746) 
Finance leases  4.9% (28,153) 4.7% (21,707) 

Interest rate swaps (notional principal amount)  3.1% (365) 3.1% (451) 

Net exposure to cash flow interest rate risk   (44,923)  (73,321) 

 
An analysis by remaining contractual maturities is shown in ‘liquidity and interest rate risk management’ below.  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Franking credits available for subsequent financial years based on 
tax rate of 30% 

  14,714 8,197 
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Note 25. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
If interest rates were to increase/decrease by 100 (2015: 100) basis points from rates used to determine fair values as at 
the reporting date, assuming all other variables that might impact on fair value remain constant, then the impact on profit for 
the year and equity is as follows: 
 

 Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

 Effect on Effect on 

 Basis points 
change 

Profit before 
tax 

Effect on 
equity post 

tax 

Basis points 
change 

Profit before 
tax 

Effect on 
equity post 

tax 

Consolidated – 2016       

Impact 100 536 375 100 (536) (375) 

       
 Basis points increase Basis points decrease 

 Effect on Effect on 

 Basis points 
change 

Profit before 
tax 

Effect on 
equity 

Basis points 
change 

Profit before 
tax 

Effect on 
equity 

Consolidated – 2015       

Impact 100 659 461 100 (659) (461) 

 
Credit risk 
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterpart will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. 
Credit risk for cash deposits is managed by holding all cash deposits with major Australian Banks. Credit risk for trade 
receivables is managed by completing credit checks for new customers. Outstanding receivables are regularly monitored 
for payments in accordance with credit terms. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date to recognised 
financial assets is the carrying amount, net of any provisions for impairment of those assets, as disclosed in the statement 
of financial position and notes to the financial statements. The Group does not hold any collateral. 
 
The Group does not have any material credit risk exposure to any single debtor or group of debtors under financial 
instruments entered into by the Group. 
 
The credit risk for derivative financial instruments arises from the potential failure of the counter-party to meet its obligations. 
The credit risk exposure of forward contracts is the net fair value of these contracts. 
 
Liquidity risk 
Vigilant liquidity risk management requires the Group to maintain sufficient liquid assets (mainly cash and cash equivalents) 
and available borrowing facilities to be able to pay debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate cash reserves and available borrowing facilities by continuously 
monitoring actual and forecast cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. 
 
Fair Value Risk 
The only item held at fair value in the financial statements is an interest rate derivative which is considered immaterial and 
as such no further disclosure in relation to fair value has been made. 
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Note 25. Financial instruments (continued) 
 
Subject to the continuance of satisfactory credit ratings and compliance with banking covenants, the bank loan facilities may 
be drawn at any time and have a maturity of 2 years and 3 month years (2015: 3 years and 3 months years). The bank loan 
facilities are interest only repayments. 
 
Remaining contractual maturities 
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial instrument liabilities. The tables have 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the financial 
liabilities are required to be paid. The tables include both interest and principal cash flows disclosed as remaining contractual 
maturities and therefore these totals may differ from their carrying amount in the statement of financial position. 
 

 Weighted 
average 

interest rate 

 
1 year or 

less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 
 

Over 5 years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated – 2016 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       
Non-derivatives       
Non-interest bearing       
Trade payables - 4,132 - - - 4,132 
Other payables - 6,265 - - - 6,265 
Contingent consideration - - - - - - 
       
Interest-bearing – variable       
Borrowings 4.5% 1,997 1,997 41,433 - 45,427 
Lease liability 4.9% 7,930 10,550 11,717 - 30,197 

Total non-derivatives  20,324 12,547 53,150 - 86,021 

       
Derivatives       
Interest rate swaps net settled 3.1% 324 41 - - 365 

Total derivatives  324 41 - - 365 

 
 Weighted 

average 
interest rate 

 
1 year or 

less 

 
Between 1 
and 2 years 

 
Between 2 
and 5 years 

 
 

Over 5 years 

Remaining 
contractual 
maturities 

Consolidated – 2015 % $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000 
       
Non-derivatives       
Non-interest bearing       
Trade payables - 3,417 - - - 3,417 
Other payables - 7,121 - - - 7,121 
Contingent consideration - 3,150 - - - 3,150 
       
Interest-bearing – variable       
Borrowings 4.4% 7,555 6,685 46,862 - 61,102 
Lease liability 4.7% 7,818 5,565 10,297 - 23,680 

Total non-derivatives  29,061 12,250 57,159 - 98,470 

       
Derivatives       
Interest rate swaps net settled 3.1% 312 130 9 - 451 

Total derivatives  312 130 9 - 451 
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The cash flows in the maturity analysis above are not expected to occur significantly earlier than contractually disclosed 
above. 
 
Note 26. Key management personnel disclosures 

Compensation 

The aggregate compensation paid to Directors and other members of key management personnel of the Group is set out 

below: 

 

Note 27. Remuneration of auditors  

During the financial year the following fees were paid or payable for services provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers, the 

auditor of the Company: 

 
Note 28. Contingent liabilities 

The Group has given bank guarantees as at 30 June 2016 of $1.3m (2015: $1.2m) to various landlords. 
 
  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $ $ 

     

Short-term employee benefits   3,306,709 570,636 

   3,306,709 570,636 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $ $ 

     
Audit services - PricewaterhouseCoopers     

Audit and review of the financial statements   204,545 140,000 

     
Other services – PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Due diligence   427,273 135,000 
Tax compliance services   42,727 25,000 

Tax advice relating to corporate structuring   126,364 68,000 

   800,909 368,000 



Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(Formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2016 

 

Page 39 

Note 29. Commitments 

 

Under the terms of the leases, the Group has the option to acquire the leased assets for predetermined residual values on 

the expiry of the leases. 

As at 30 June 2016 there were outstanding capital commitments for plant and equipment of $0.3m (2015: $Nil) 

Note 30. Related party transactions 
 
Parent entity 
Integral Diagnostics Limited is the parent entity. 
 
Subsidiaries 
Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 33. 
 
Key management personnel 
Disclosures relating to key management personnel are set out in Note 26 and the remuneration report on pages 19 to 24. 
 

  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

Lease commitments – operating     
Within one year   7,574 7,009 
One to five years   20,956 13,895 

More than five years   3,465 282 

   31,995 21,186 

     
Lease commitments – finance     
Committed at the reporting date and recognised as 
liabilities, payable: 

    

Within one year   7,930 7,818 

One to five years   22,267 15,863 

     
Total commitment   30,197 23,681 

Less: Future finance charges   (2,044) (1,974) 

     

Net commitment recognised as liabilities   28,153 21,707 

     
Representing:     
Lease liability – current (Note 16)   6,745 6,323 

Lease liability – non-current (Note 19)   21,408 15,384 

     

   28,153 21,707 
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Note 30. Related party transactions (continued) 

 

Transactions with related parties 

The following transactions occurred with related parties: 

   

                   

 

 

 

 

 

 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $ $ 

     
Other income:     
Management fee received from South West MRI Pty Ltd a 
Joint Venture entity 

  142,383 150,000 

     
Payment for goods and services:     
Employee contractor costs paid to Radsonic and Triexmen 
Pty Ltd of which Chien Ho, John Livingston, Gregory 
Hughes and Craig Bremner are related to: 

  - 1,782,296 

     
Consulting fees paid to Helen Kurincic, a director of the 
Group: 
Consulting fees paid to Garry Hounsell, a director of the 
Group: 
Consulting fees paid to John Atkin, a director of the Group: 
 

  

60,000 
 

25,000 
 

25,000                  

23,000 
 

- 
 

- 

Radiology services provided to South West MRI Pty Ltd a 
Joint Venture entity: 
 
Cleaning fees paid to GJJ Hughes of which Gregory 
Hughes is related to: 
 

  
291,887 

 
17,800 

308,213 
 

17,500 

     
Other transactions:     
Payment for rental of buildings to Eleven Eleven How Pty 
Ltd of which Chien Ho, John Livingtson, Gregory Hughes 
and Craig Bremner are related to: 
Payment for rental of buildings to Perhaps Holdings Pty Ltd 
of which Chien Ho and John Livingston are related to: 
Payment for rental of buildings to Kiwi Blue Pty Ltd of 
which Chien Ho and John Livingston are related to: 

  

592,166 
 

65,391 
 

193,182 

300,610 
 

65,391 
 

178,233 

Subscription for new ordinary shares by Helen Kurincic, a 
director of the Group: 

  
 

- 
500,000 

Subscription for new ordinary shares by Sally Sojan, a 
director of the Group: 

  - 285,713 

Subscription for new ordinary shares by John Atkin, a 
director of the Group: 

  175,000 - 

Subscription for new ordinary shares by Rupert Harrington, 
a director of the Group: 

  249,656 - 
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Note 30. Related party transactions (continued 

 

Receivable from and payable to related parties 

The following balances are outstanding at the reporting date in relation to transactions with related parties: 

 

 

Loans to/from related parties 

There were no loans to or from related parties at the current and previous reporting date. 

 

Terms and conditions 

All transactions were made on normal commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. 

 

  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Current receivables:     
Trade receivables from related parties   155 180 
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Note 31. Parent entity information 
 
Set out below is the supplementary information about the parent entity. 
 
Statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income 
 

 
Statement of financial position 
 

 
Guarantees entered into by the parent entity in relation to the debts of its subsidiaries 
The parent entity is party to the deed of cross guarantee, as disclosed in Note 34. 
 
Contingent liabilities 
Except as disclosed in Note 28, there are no other contingent liabilities of the parent entity as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 
2015. 
 
Capital commitments – Property, plant and equipment 
The parent entity had no capital commitments for property, plant and equipment as at 30 June 2016 and 30 June 2015. 
 
Significant accounting policies 
The accounting policies of the parent entity are consistent with those of the Group, as disclosed in Note 2, except for the 
following: 

 investments in subsidiaries are account for at cost, less an impairment, in the parent entity. 

 investments in associates are accounted for at cost, less any impairment, in the parent entity. 

 dividends received from subsidiaries are recognised as other income by the parent entity and its receipt may be an 
indicator of an impairment of the investment. 

 
  

   Parent 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     

Profit after income tax   8,446 9,794 

     

Total comprehensive income   8,446 9,794 

   Parent 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     

Total current assets   11,114 15,636 

     

Total assets   132,839 123,396 

     

Total current liabilities   807 13,775 

     

Total liabilities   41,557 72,457 

     
Equity     
   Contributed capital   82,760 50,743 
   Share-based payments reserve   - 128 

   Retained profits   8,522 68 

     

Total equity   91,282 50,939 
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Note 32. Business combinations 
 
2015 
SCR Corporate Pty Ltd, RAD Corporation Pty Ltd and Radploy 4 Pty Ltd (‘South Coast Radiology’) 
On 14 August 2014, the Group acquired 100% of the ordinary shares of SCR Corporate Pty Ltd, RAD Corporation Pty Ltd 
and Radploy 4 Pty Ltd (‘South Coast Radiology’) for the total consideration transferred of $89,155,000. The primary reason 
for the merger was to expand the clinical capacity and capability of the Group, and expand geographic profile of the Group. 
The goodwill of $78,420,000 is attributable to the workforce (in particular the skill and reputation of radiologists), and the 
profitability of the business. It will not be deductible for tax purposes. The acquired business contributed revenues of 
$62,500,000 and profit after tax of $8,621,000 to the Group for the period from 15 August 2014 to 30 June 2015. If the 
acquisition occurred on 1 July 2014, the full year contributions would have been revenues of $159,786,000 and profit after 
tax of $7,039,000. 
 
The values identified in relation to the acquisition of South Coast Radiology are final as at 30 June 2015. 
 
Details of the acquisition are as follows: 

 
  

     
Recognised 

on acquisition 
    Fair value 
    $’000 
     
Leasehold improvements    1,807 
Plant and equipment    15,502 
Office equipment    1,932 
Brand name    7,000 
Deferred tax asset    1,306 
Employee benefits    (3,555) 
Lease make good provision    (1,840) 
Deferred lease incentive    (974) 

Lease liability    (10,443) 

     
Net assets acquired    10,735 

Goodwill    78,420 

     

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred    89,155 

     
Representing:     
Cash paid or payable to vendor    66,619 

Integral Diagnostics Limited shares issued to vendor    22,536 

     

    89,155 

     
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:     
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred    89,155 
Less: 722,294 shares issued by Company (at fair value of $31.20 
per shares) as part of consideration 

   (22,536) 

     

Net cash used    66,619 
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Note 32. Business combinations (continued) 
 
Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd 
On 30 June 2015, the Company acquired the remaining shares in Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd it did not already 
own. The shares were acquired for cash consideration of $7,869,000 and by issuing shares in Lake Imaging Holdings Pty 
Ltd to the value of $200,000. An additional amount of $69,400 (relating to settlement adjustments arising from the original 
business combination) was also paid under the terms of the Share Sale Agreement. The primary reason for the purchase 
of the remaining shares was to obtain complete control of the Company and its strategic direction. 
 
During the financial year deferred consideration on settlement of the acquisition of $3.15m was paid (note 18) and an 
additional amount of $1.197m (note 22) was paid to the non-controlling interest as part of the IPO process. These 
transactions were in accordance with the terms of the acquisition agreement. 
 
Accounting policy for business combinations 
The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations regardless of whether equity instruments 
or other assets are acquired. 
 
The consideration transferred is the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred, equity instruments 
issued or liabilities incurred by the acquirer to former owners of the acquiree and the amount of any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree. For each business combination, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree is measured at either fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All acquisition costs are expensed as incurred to profit 
or loss. 
 
On the acquisition of a business, the Group assesses the financial assets acquired and liabilities assumed for appropriate 
classification and designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic conditions, the Group’s operating or 
accounting policies and other pertinent conditions in existence at the acquisition date. 
 
Where the business combination is achieved in stages, the Group measures its previously held equity interest in the acquiree 
at the acquisition date fair value and the difference between and fair value and the previous carrying amount is recognised 
in profit or loss. 
 
Contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at the acquisition date fair value. Subsequent 
changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration classified as an asset or liability is recognised in profit or loss. 
Contingent consideration classified as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 
 
The difference between the acquisition date fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest 
in the acquiree and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the 
acquiree is recognised as goodwill. If the consideration transferred and the pre-existing fair value is less than the fair value 
of the identifiable net assets acquired, being a bargain purchase to the acquirer, the difference is recognised as a gain 
directly in profit or loss by the acquirer on the acquisition date but only after a reassessment of the identification and 
measurement of the net assets acquired, the non-controlling interest in the acquiree, if any, the consideration transferred 
and the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquirer. 
 
Business combinations are initially accounted for on a provisional basis. The acquirer retrospectively adjusts the provisional 
amounts recognised and also recognises additional assets and liabilities during the measurement period, based on new 
information obtained about the facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date. The measurement period ends 
on either the earlier of (i) twelve months from the date of the acquisition or (ii) when the acquirer received all the information 
possible to determine fair value. 
 
Business combinations under common control use the principals of corporate reorganisation. The difference between the 
acquisition-date historical book value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquired 
and the fair value of the consideration transferred and the fair value of any pre-existing investment in the acquiree is 
recognised as a capital reorganisation in reserves, and not as goodwill. 
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Note 33. Interests in subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets, liabilities and results of the following subsidiaries in 
accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2: 
 

 
Note 34. Deed of cross guarantee 

The following entities are party to a deed of cross guarantee under which each Company guarantees the debts of the others: 
Integral Diagnostics Limited (formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Lake Imaging Pty Ltd 
Radploy Pty Ltd 
Radploy 2 Pty ltd 
Radploy 3 Pty Ltd 
Radploy 4 Pty Ltd 
Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd 
SCR Corporate Pty Ltd 
RAD Corporate Pty Ltd 
 
By entering into the deed, the wholly-owned entities have been relieved from the requirement to prepare financial statements 
and Directors’ report under Class Order 98/1418 (as amended) issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (‘ASIC’). 
 
The above companies represent a ‘Closed Group’ for the purposes of the Class Order, and as there are no other parties to 
the deed of cross guarantee that are controlled by Integral Diagnostics Limited, they also represent the ‘Extended Closed 
Group’. 
 
The statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and statement of financial position are the same as the 
Group and therefore have not been separately disclosed. 
 
Note 35. Interests in Joint Ventures 
 
Interest in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Information relating to joint ventures are 
set out below: 
 

 
Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd owns 50% (100 ordinary shares) of South West MRI Pty Ltd, a company set up to provide 
magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) and associated services. Rafferty Rogan and Houghton Pty Ltd, in its capacity as Trustee 
for the Ultrasound Service Unit Trust (‘Western District Radiology’) owns the other 50% (100 ordinary shares). 
 

  Ownership interest 

Name of entity 
Principal place of 
business/Country 
of  incorporation 

2016 
% 

2015 
% 

Lake Imaging Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
Radploy Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
Radploy 2 Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
Radploy 3 Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
Radploy 4 Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
Global Diagnostics (Australia) Pty Ltd  Australia 100.00 100.00 
SCR Corporate Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 
RAD Corporate Pty Ltd Australia 100.00 100.00 

  Ownership interest 

Name of entity 
Principal place of 
business/Country 
of  incorporation 

2016 
% 

2015 
% 

South West MRI Pty Ltd Australia 50.00 50.00 
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Note 35. Interests in Joint Ventures (continued) 
 
Accounting policy for joint ventures 
A joint venture is a form of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to 
the net assets of the arrangement. Investments in joint ventures are accounted using the equity method. Under the equity 
method, the share of the profits or losses of the joint venture is recognised in profit or loss of the movements in equity is 
recognised in other comprehensive income. Investments in joint ventures are carried in the statement of financial position 
at cost plus post-acquisition changes in the Group’s share of net assets of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to the joint 
venture is included in the carrying amount of the investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested for impairment. 
Income earned from joint venture entities reduce the carrying amount of the investment. 
 
Note 36. Reconciliation of profit after income tax to net cash from operating activities 

 

 
  

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
Profit after income tax expense for the year   11,388 4,805 
     
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation and amortisation   8,720 8,606 
Loan establishment costs amortisation   180 - 
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment   176 277 
Share of profit – associates   (2) (12) 
Share-based payments 
Tax included in equity 

  
113 
440 

128 
- 

Financial liability fair value movement through profit and loss   (86) 451 
Interest income   (263) (189) 
IPO Transaction costs included in financing activities   6,272 - 
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
   Increase in trade and other receivables   (754) (1,307) 
   Increase in deferred tax assets   (1,545) (828) 
   Increase in other operating assets and inventory   (718) (663) 
   Increase in trade and other payables   1,575 3,090 
   Increase/(decrease) in provision for income tax   (1,619) 808 

   Increase in other provisions   178 1,946 

     

Net cash from operating activities   24,055 17,112 



Integral Diagnostics Limited 
(Formerly known as Lake Imaging Holdings Pty Ltd) 
Notes to the financial statements 
30 June 2016 

 

Page 47 

Note 37. Earnings per share 
 

 

 

 
The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the comparative period has been adjusted for the 29 for 1 share split 

that occurred on 30 September 2015. 

Accounting policy for earnings per share 
 
Basic earnings per share 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to the owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited, 
excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the financial year. 
 
Diluted earnings per share 
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to take into account the 
after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares and the 
weighted average number of shares assumed to have been issued for no consideration in relation to dilutive potential 
ordinary shares. 
 
Note 38. Events after the reporting period 
 
On 1st July 2016, the Group acquired the assets and liabilities of the Western District Radiology business and the remaining 
50% interest in South West MRI Pty Ltd (collectively known as the WDR/SWMRI acquisition) for the total consideration 
transferred of $5,000,000, being $3,725,000 in cash payment and $1,275,000 worth of issued shares. (908,056 shares 
issued at $1.4041 per share). This acquisition complements the Group’s strengths and further strengthens the Group’s 
position in South West region of Victoria and will be integrated into the Lake Imaging CGU so as the maximum synergies 
can be obtained. 
 
The business of SWMRI Pty Ltd was valued at $2.4m immediately prior to acquisition, the value of the 50% interest held 
previously immediately prior to acquisition was $0.002m resulting in the recognition of a $1.2m gain as a result of re-
measuring to fair value the equity interest held in SWMRI Pty Ltd. This amount will be recognised in other income in the 
income statement as at 1 July 2016 and in goodwill. The share of plant and equipment $0.453m and debt assumed $0.389m 
will result in net assets of $0.065k being booked which will reduce goodwill by $0.064m. 
 

   Consolidated 
   30 Jun 2016 30 Jun 2015 
   $’000 $’000 

     
     
Profit after income tax   11,388 4,805 

Non-controlling interest  - (305) 

Profit after income tax attributable to the owners of Integral Diagnostics Limited 11,388 4,500 

   Number Number 
     
Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating basic earnings per 
share 

138,726,283 118,349,462 

Adjustments for calculation of diluted earnings per share:    

   Weighted average number of options over ordinary shares  - 4,731 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares used in calculating diluted earnings per 
share 

138,726,283 118,354,193 

   Cents Cents 
     
Basic earnings per share 8.2 3.8 
Diluted earnings per share 8.2 3.8 
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Note 38. Events after the reporting period (continued:) 
 
The purchase price accounting has not yet been finalised as at the date of this report, the initial values identified in relation 
to the acquisition of WDR and SWMRI are as follows. 
Details of the acquisition are as follows: 

 
The acquisition price announced to the market was calculated at $5m being the $4,469 m plus the liabilities assumed for 
employee benefits $0.142m and debt assumed $0.389m as part of the acquisition, these amounts were deducted as part of 
settlement. 
 
Total goodwill to be booked on the transaction is acquisition $3.306m, fair value uplift on existing interest $1.2m less $0.065 
on recognition of 50% of net assets in SWMRI, totaling goodwill of $4.441m. 
 
Contingent consideration payable is a maximum amount of $0.150m and is dependent on a range of performance hurdles 
over a two year period, with payments required six monthly. On acquisition it is considered that all performance hurdles will 
be met and the contingent consideration will be payable. 
 
It is estimated that had WDR/SWMRI been held for the full year revenues would have increased by approximately $4.3m 
and earnings by approximately $1m. 
 
Subsequent to year end a dividend of 4c per share was declared and will be paid on 4th October 2016. 
 
No other matter or circumstance has arisen since 30 June 2016 that has significantly affected, or may significantly affect the 
Group’s operations, the results of those operations, or the Group’s state of affairs in future financial years. 
 

     
Recognised 

on acquisition 
    Fair value 
    $’000 
Plant and equipment    1,639 
Brand name    155 
Employee benefits    (142) 
Lease make good provision    (100) 
Debt assumed    (389) 

     

     
Net assets acquired    1,163 

Goodwill    3,306 

     

Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred    4,469 

     
Representing:     
Cash paid or payable to vendor    3,044 
Contingent consideration    150 

Integral Diagnostics Limited shares issued to vendor    1,275 

     

    4,469 

     
Cash used to acquire business, net of cash acquired:     
Acquisition-date fair value of the total consideration transferred    4,469 
Less: 908,056 shares issued by Company (at fair value of 
$1.4041 per shares) as part of consideration 

   (1,275) 

Less: Contingent consideration     (150) 

     

Net cash used    3,044 
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In the directors' opinion: 

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with the Corporations Act 2001, the Accounting Standards, 
the Corporations Regulations 2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements; 

 the attached financial statements and notes comply with International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as described in Note 2 to the financial statements; 

 the attached financial statements and notes give a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 
June 2016 and of its performance for the financial year ended on that date; 

 there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when they become 
due and payable; and 

 at the date of this declaration, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the members of the Extended Closed Group 
will be able to meet any obligations or liabilities to which they are, or may become, subject to virtue of the deed of cross 
guarantee described in Note 34 to the financial statements. 

The Directors have been given the declarations required by section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of Directors made pursuant to section 295(5)(a) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
On behalf of the Directors 
 
  

 
 

 
________________________________     ________________________________ 

Helen Kurincic        John Livingston 
Chairman        Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer  
 
25 August 2016 
Melbourne 


